# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CP-00339-COA

ANTHONY NICK

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI



**APPELLANT** 

**APPELLEE** 

# **BRIEF FOR APPELLANT**

DV.

Anthony Nick, #71647

HHRCF #71647

23234 Hwy 12-E

Lexington MS 39095

# **ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED**

PRO SE PRISONER BRIEF

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CASE NO. 2009-CP-00339-COA

ANTHONY NICK

**APPELLANT** 

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Appellant presents the following issues for appeal to this court.

#### **ISSUE ONE**

That Appellant avers he was illegally convicted upon a plea of guilty on the charge of Aggravated Assault, based on the criminal information given, and that his sentence on the said charge by information is also illegal due to the fact that the statute limitation for speedy trial or for such other proceedings consistent with the disposition of such proceedings had expired, making the conviction and sentence "null and void".

#### **ISSUE TWO**

That Appellant Nick is entitled to post conviction collateral relief from his illegal conviction and sentence, and should be released from his illegal custody and confinement instantly based on the alleged error.

#### **ISSUE THREE**

Whether trial court judge erred in denying the post conviction motion without considering such motion and conducting judicial examination of records, transcripts and correspondence in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Petitioner was actually indicted in this case, for the offense of rape, on December 13, 2001. The state, after having failed to bring this matter to trial within the time allowed by law, circumvented the statute by seeking a bill of information on an entirely different and distinct offense and one which petitioner had not been indicted for. The waiver of indictment filed in this case on September 14, 2005, filed some three years and nine months after the facts giving rise to the charge, is an illegal waiver and should be null and void.

accord with Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-11(1) and whether trial court erred in dismissing post conviction motion without conducting evidentiary hearing where Appellant placed facts in dispute.

#### **ISSUE FOUR**

Whether Appellant was subjected to ineffective assistance of counsel in violation of the 6th Amendment to the United States Constitution.

#### **ISSUE FIVE**

Whether trial court was without jurisdiction to hear information where statute of limitation on prosecution had expired and the state never alleged Appellant was not in custody before limitations period expired.

#### STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

The Appellant is presently incarcerated and being housed in the Mississippi Department of Corrections at the HHRCF in Holmes County Mississippi in service of the term imposed by the court.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

On September 12, 2005, a criminal information was filed against Appellant charging that on November 3, 2000, Anthony Nick purposely or knowingly caused bodily injury to Prenisa Richard. (R. 2).<sup>2</sup> On advice of counsel, Nick signed a waiver of indictment on September 13, 2005 (R. 4) On the same day, September 13, 2005 on the advice of counsel, Nick entered a plea to Aggravated Assault and was sentenced to a maximum term of 20 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. (R. 3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The District Attorney for the Seventh Circuit Court District, State of Mississippi, charges that on or about the 3rd day of November 2000 in the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, Anthony Nick did purposely or knowingly cause bodily injury to Prenisa Richard, a human being, with a deadly weapon, to-wit: his hands, by then and there punching and choking Prenisa Richard, in violation of Section 97-3-7 (2)(b), contrary to the form of the statute in such cases made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Mississippi.

The record of the plea colloquy demonstrates that Appellant never waived his speedy trial rights nor his statutory statute of limitations right to crimina prosecution. The trial court never questioned nor mentioned any reference to Appellant's speedy trial and statute of limitations rights during the plea of colloquy.

The trial court was without jurisdiction to proceed on September 13, 2005 upon a charge which the state alleged had occurred on November 3, 2000, when the state never asserted it did not know the identity of the defendant and where defendant had been in state custody long before September 13, 2005.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a trial court's decision to deny a motion for post-conviction relief the standard of review is clear. The trial court's denial will not be reversed absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous. <u>Kirksey v. State</u>, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (Miss. 1999).

In the instant case well-settled law demonstrates that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous since the trial court failed to review the record before summarily denying Motion without evidentiary hearing and where court had no jurisdiction to hear plea where Statute of Limitation on prosecution of such crime had long expired before State sought to prosecute. Trial court committed plain error in prosecuting of such charges under the facts presented by the record.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant Nick respectfully submits that the lower court judge erred in denying his motion for post-conviction collateral relief motion without a hearing where court never reviewed the record, as required by law, and did not have jurisdiction to hear charge since statute of limitation had expired. Appellant was subjected to ineffective assistance of counsel in violation of the 6th Amendment to the United States Constitution.

Appellant has been sentenced to an illegal sentence and the trial court was, therefore, incorrect in dismissing such claim on the sole basis of Miss. Code Ann §99-39-11(2) when trial court never reviewed prior proceedings in case since transcript of plea colloquy was not transcribed until seven months after the trial court's order summarily denying post conviction motion and were then only transcribed at the direction of this court. <sup>3</sup>

The trial court should have granted an evidentiary hearing and grant post conviction relief on the claims. Since the trial court never made the post conviction relief motion a point of the record on appeal after such motion was designated on appeal, (R. 14) and again sought by Motion to Supplement Record on appeal, which motion was filed with this court and where trial court continued to not include the Post Conviction for review by this court, this court should entertain all issues raised by Appellant or remand this case to trial court for hearing. Any objections have been waived where court failed on two occasions to include such document in record

#### ARGUMENT

This matter came before the Court on Motion to Supplement and Expand Record on Appeal and Motion to Place Briefing Schedule in Abeyance Pending Ruling on Appellant's Motion to Supplement Record on Appeal, filed by the appellant pro se, seeking to supplement the record with the transcript of the guilty plea hearing and seeking to have the Court issue a new briefing schedule after the supplementation of the record. The Court finds that the motions are will taken and should be granted.

THEREFORE IT IS ORDERED that the Motion to Supplement and Expand Record on Appeal be, and hereby is, granted. The record shall be supplemented with the transcript of the guilty plea hearing held on or about September 13, 2005.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Motion to Place Briefing Schedule in Abeyance Pending Ruling on Appellant's Motion to Supplement Record on Appeal be, and hereby is granted. A new briefing schedule shall be issued after the record is supplemented.

#### ISSUE ONE

That Appellant avers he was illegally convicted upon a plea of guilty on the charge of Aggravated Assault, based on the criminal information given, and that his sentence on the said charge by information is also illegal due to the fact that the statute limitation for speedy trial or for such other proceedings consistent with the disposition of such proceedings had expired, making the conviction and sentence "null and void"<sup>4</sup>.

Appellant would assert that the law is clear on this issue. Under Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-17-1 (Rev. 2000), "provides that a defendant shall be tried within 270 days unless good cause be shown, and continuance duly granted by the court. The analysis for the 270 day rule is very fact specific and relies heavily on whether the prosecution or defense cause the delays." Jones v. State, 902 So.2d 593 (Miss. 2005)

Thus, the right to a speedy trial is not only guaranteed by the United States and Mississippi Constitutions, but also by statute. "Although rights guaranteed by the constitution may never be diminished by statute, they can be expanded." Miss. Code Ann. Section 00-17-1 (Rev. 2000) also known as the "270 day rule, "provides as follows: "Unless good cause be shown, and continuance duly granted by the court, all offenses for which indictments are presented to the shall be tried no later than two hundred seventy (270) days after the accused has been arraigned." (emphasis added). Stark v. State, 911 So.2d 447 (Miss. 2005).

This final factor is prejudice against the defendant. The supreme court has held:

"[W]hen the length of delay is preemptively prejudicial, the burden of persuasion is on the state to show that the delay did not prejudice the defendant. Nevertheless, if the defendant fails to show actual prejudice to his defense, this prong of the Barker balancing test cannot weigh heavily in his favor. Ginn v. State, 860 so.2d 675, 684, P. 684 (2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Petitioner was actually indicted in this case, for the offense of rape, on December 13, 2001. The state, after having failed to bring this matter to trial within the time allowed by law, circumvented the statute by seeking a bill of information on an entirely different and distinct offense and one which petitioner had not been indicted for. The waiver of indictment filed in this case on September 14, 2005, which was filed some three years and nine months after the facts giving rise to the charge, is an illegal waiver and should be null and void.

Jones v. State, 902 So.2d 593 (Miss. 2005).

Moreover, a defendant cannot, by virtue of a plea bargain, confer upon court authority to impose illegal sentence or confer upon state the authority to ignore the language of a plainly worded statute. Brown v. State, 209 So.2d 730 (Fla 1992); Lee v. State, 731 So.2d 71, 73 (Fla 1999); Brister v. State, 622 So.2d 552, 553 (Fa. 1993); Taylor v. State, 778 So.2d 464, 465 (Fla. 2001).

The trial court decision is clearly erroneous and incorrect since an illegal sentence claim is not three-year barred under the law decided by the Supreme Court in the decision of <u>Ivy v. State</u>, 731 So.2d 601 (Miss. 1999).

Although the record may show that the Appellant was already confined on prior conviction(s), his guilty plea and sentence in this cause should be vacated and dismissed because of the illegality of his conviction.

#### **ISSUE TWO**

That Appellant Nick is entitled to post conviction collateral relief from his illegal conviction and sentence, and should be released from his illegal custody and confinement instantly based on the alleged error

Appellant's sentence is illegal where it was imposed upon information which was instituted by the prosecution long after the statutory time limitations for prosecution had elapsed and was used as a deliberate design to circumvent the statute of limitation on prosecution.

The prosecution commenced against Appellant, under the meaning of Miss. Code Ann. §99-1-7 on September 12, 2005 when the information charging Appellant with aggravated assault was filed. <sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The information did not make out an aggravated assault charge since the information alleged that Appellant used his hands as a deadly weapon. the State never alleged Appellant had any special training or skills so as to qualify his hands as being a deadly weapon.

While the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. §99-1-5 exempts aggravated from prosecution, Appellant would assert that the facts set out in the information filed against him on September 12, 2005 did not constitute aggravated assault since there was no deadly weapon. Additionally, Appellant did not absent himself from this state or out of the court's jurisdiction and the state was therefore obligated to charge Appellant long before the passage of the 4 years and 10 months which elapsed between the date of the alleged offense and the date in which the information was filed.

Appellant would also submit to this court that Miss. Code Ann. §99-1-5 is not applicable in this case since such statue did not become the law until July 1, 2008, long after the date of the alleged offense and after the information had been filed.

## **ISSUE THREE**

Whether trial court judge erred in denying the post conviction motion without considering such motion and conducting judicial examination of records, transcripts and correspondence in accord with Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-11(1). and whether trial court erred in summarily dismissing post conviction motion without conducting evidentiary hearing where Appellant placed facts in dispute

Mississippi Code Ann. § 99-39-11 (1) provides that when the post conviction collateral relief motion is filed:

(1) The original motion, together with all the files, records, transcripts and correspondence relating to the judgment under attack, shall be examined promptly by the judge to whom it is assigned.

In the instant case the trial court never complied with the statute before summarily denying the post conviction relief motion in a half page order. (C.P. 85).

The facts and information presented in this brief demonstrates that the trial court was manifestly wrong in summarily denying the motion. The sentence, as a matter of law, was not imposed under the habitual statute and the sentencing order, in it's present state, is illegal. This

fact along, without any of the other claims, demonstrates that Appellant is entitled to relief and the post conviction relief motion should not have been summarily dismissed. <u>Hunt v. State</u>, 874 So.2d 448 (Miss. 2004).

The plea transcript was not transcribed and filed until long after the court had denied the post conviction relief motion. As a matter of fact, the plea transcript was not made a part of the record until this court ordered it to be filed. This plea transcript was not initially filed even after it had been designated in the Designation of Record on Appeal. The trial court could not have possibly reviewed the transcript before mailing this summary dismissal because the transcript had not been written at that time.

The post conviction relief filed in this case was clearly sufficient to warrant an evidentiary hearing.

The Trial Court's finding that the motion should be summarily dismissed constitutes an abuse of decreation and should be reversed by this Honorable Court for an evidentiary hearing on the merits. Under the law where there is a question of fact presented by the post conviction motion the trial court should conduct an evidentiary hearing. This Court should therefore FIND THAT THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING TO BE VOID and remand this case to the trial court for evidentiary hearing on the merits. The trial court should have actually conducted an evidentiary hearing without any entry of a ruling regarding the motion. The claims contained in the motion are well pleaded and concise. Appellant was DEFINITELY entitled to develop additional facts, during a hearing, to support his motion. This Court is, once again, confronted with factual problems in this case which could have been fully and finally resolved in the trial court by an evidentiary hearing or, possibly, by development of facts and expansion of the record in conformance with Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-17 (Supp. 1992).

In the present case the Appellant supported his complaint with specific factual allegations and the record. The trial court did not bother to examine the record. These factual presentations constitute factual disputes which should have been revolved by a hearing. "While a transcript of the proceeding is essential, which again the trial court never bothered to examine, other offers of clear and convincing evidence which prove that the defendant entered a guilty plea involuntarily are sufficient. For example, where an evidentiary hearing has established that a defendant's guilty plea was entered involuntarily, the fact that a record was not made at the time the plea was entered will not be fatal." Wilson v. State, 577 So.2d 394 (Miss. 1991).

In this case, the trial court never conducted an evidentiary hearing or examined the attachments to the Motion to verity that the claim of involuntary plea and ineffective assistance of counsel was supported by factual information. The trial court failed to the mandatory requirements of the post conviction procedure Act when it failed to conduct a hearing or to require an answer from the State or examine the evidence. This act sets out the following requirements

- § 99-39-11. Judicial examination of original motion; dismissal; filing answer.
- (1) The original motion, together wit all the files, records, transcripts and correspondence relating to the judgment under attack, shall be examined promptly by the judge to who it is assigned.
- (2) If it plainly appears from 'he face of the motion, any annexed exhibits and the prior proceedings in the case that the movant is not entitled to any relief, the judge may make an order for its dismissal and cause the prisoner to be notified.
- (3) If the motion is not dismissed under subsection (2) of this section, the judge shall order the state to file an answer or other pleading within the period of time fixed by the court or to take such other action as the judge deems appropriate.
- (4) This section shall not be applicable where an application for leave to proceed is granted by the Supreme Court under Section 99-39-27.
- (5) Proceedings under this section shall be subject to the provisions of Section

99-19-42.

In the instant case now before the bar of this Court, the trial court never indicated that it had examined the record of the plea. The law therefore require that an evidentiary hearing be conducted in such an instance where the trial court is unable to make this finding. During the plea hearing, and according to law, Nick should have been advised that he had the right to have his witnesses to testify. Moreover, the Court should have advised Nick that he could appeal the sentence to the Supreme Court directly since the sentence amounted to the maximum term of imprisonment applicable to the offense. Nick was entitled to an evidentiary hearing because if these things were not told to him and because he had witnesses who could have been called at trial, and ready to testify, the plea would not have been made. The Supreme of Mississippi has previously held that it is committed to the principle that a post-conviction collateral relief petition, which meets basic requirements, is sufficient to mandate an evidentiary hearing unless it appears beyond doubt that the Appellant can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief Alexander v. State, 605 So.2d 1170, 1173 (Miss. 1992); Horton v. State, 584 So. 2d 764, 768 (Miss. 1991); Wilson v. State, 577 So. 2d 394, 397 (Miss. 1991); Myers v. State, 583 So.2d 174, 178 (Miss. 1991); Miller v. State, 578 So.2d 617 (Miss. 1991); Wright v. State, 577 So.2d 387 (Miss. 1991); Billiot v. State, 515 So.2d 1284 (Miss. 1987).

In tandem, with the allegations in the post-conviction relief motion being supported by the record, Appellant was entitled to an "in court opportunity to prove his claims." Neal v. State, 525 So.2d 1279, 1281 (Miss. 1987). The trial court's decision not to grant an evidentiary hearing here forced another needless appeal upon an already overloaded and overtaxed appellate court. The trial court should have, at a minimum, granted an evidentiary hearing on the claims contained in the post-conviction relief motion. Relief beyond that point would have depended upon the

developments at the evidentiary hearing. Neal v. State. 525 So.2d 1279, 1280-81 (Miss. 1987); Sanders v. State, 440 So.2d 278, 286 (Miss. 1983); Baker v. State, 358 So.2d 401 (Miss. 1978). This point is especially clear where there was no record transcript of the plea made or consulted in considering the post conviction motion. Appellant made a substantial showing of the denial of his constitutional rights under states law., as demonstrated by the record, that the trial court accepted pleas and sentenced him without the least concern as to whether any of his witnesses desired to testify in mitigation of the sentence to be imposed. Appellant Nick would ask this Court to vacate the ruling of the trial court and remand this case to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing.

#### **ISSUE FOUR**

Whether Appellant was subjected to ineffective assistance of counsel in violation of the 6th Amendment to the United States Constitution

That the Petitioner's right to effective assistance of counsel under the 6th Amendment and the 14th Amendment of the United States Constitution, as well as Article 3, §26 guarantees persons accused of a crime, the right to counsel is the right to effective assistance of counsel.

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