#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ANTHONY NICK

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-CP-0339

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

## BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR N

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Nick's conviction for aggravated assault as the result of his guilty plea was legal and by pleading guilty he waived his right to a speedy trial. "[A] valid guilty plea operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional rights or defects which are incident to trial including the right to a speedy trial, whether of constitutional or statutory origin." *Madden v. State*, 991 So.2d 1231, 1237(¶ 25) (Miss. App. Ct. 2008). Nick waived his right to a speedy trial upon pleading guilty. Therefore, this issue is without merit.

Nick is not entitled to post-conviction collateral relief. The charges of rape and aggravated assault are exempted from the two year statute of limitations for criminal prosecution. The two year statute of limitations as to the charge of sexual battery was tolled by the issuance of the indictment only thirteen months after the crime was committed. Finally, Nick waived any defenses arising from the statute of limitations when he pled guilty to aggravated assault on September 13, 2005.

The trial court was correct in denying Nick's Motion for Post Conviction Collateral Relief. With nothing but his own bare affidavit to support his factual claims, Nick did not meet the standard for an evidentiary hearing. His Motion for Post Conviction Collateral Relief was without merit on its face and was properly dismissed by the trial court.

Nick cannot satisfy either prong of *Strickland* and cannot overcome the strong presumption that he received constitutionally effective assistance of counsel. "A valid guilty plea operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional rights or defects which are incident to trial including the right to a speedy trial, whether of constitutional or statutory origin." *Madden v. State*, 991 So.2d 1231, 1237 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (quoting *Anderson v. State*, 577 So.2d 390, 391-92 (Miss. 1991)). Nick has failed to prove his counsel was deficient for not pursuing a speedy trial

because, upon entering a guilty plea, Nick waived his right to a speedy trial.

There is no statute of limitations for the prosecution of rape or aggravated assault, Nick waived any defenses based on the statute of limitations when he pled guilty and the two year statute of limitations as to sexual battery was tolled on December 13, 2001, when Nick was indicted 13 months after the offense. On November 3, 2000, Nick hid in the apartment of P.R. When she came home from work, he brutally attacked her, causing her severe injuries. On December 13, 2001, Nick was indicted for rape and sexual battery in the matter of the attack on P.R. In order to escape prosecution for rape and sexual battery, on September 13, 2005, Nick opted to accept a plea bargain in which he would enter an open plea of guilty to a charge of aggravated assault by information in exchange for the charges of rape and sexual battery being remanded to the file. The charge of aggravated assault had a much lesser maximum penalty than the charges of rape and sexual battery. Therefore, Nick waived any defense based on the statute of limitations as to all three charges. Further, aggravated assault and rape are exempted from the two year statute of limitations for prosecution of criminal offenses. Additionally, as to the charge of sexual battery, the statute of limitations was tolled on the day Nick was indicted, December 13, 2001, 13 months after he committed the offense on November 3, 2000. This issue is without merit and the trial court correctly denied Nick's Motion for Post Conviction Collateral Relief.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Nick's conviction for aggravated assault as the result of his guilty plea was legal and by pleading guilty he waived his right to a speedy trial.

It is well established that "a guilty plea waives the right to a speedy trial, whether that right is of constitutional or statutory origin." *Hardin v. State*, 966 So.2d 844, 847 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Rowe v. State*, 735 So.2d 399, 400 (Miss.1999)). Although Nick argues that he was

not made aware of the circumstances of his guilty plea, the record shows that he signed a petition to enter a guilty plea which clearly stated Nick understood that he waived his right to a speedy trial. (C.P. 5)

Nick argues that his right to a speedy trial was violated because his guilty plea, which acts as a waiver of the right to a speedy trial, was not made voluntarily and intelligently because he was coerced into pleading guilty. However, the record reflects that Nick's guilty plea was voluntarily and intelligently made. A plea is considered "voluntary and intelligent" if the defendant knows the elements of the charge against him, understands the charge's relation to him, what effect the plea will have, and what sentence the plea may bring. *Alexander v. State*, 605 So.2d 1170, 1172 (Miss.1992). During the plea colloquy, Nick was informed of the charge against him, the effect of the plea, the rights he would waive if he pleaded guilty, and the possible sentence he could receive.

Further, "[t]o survive summary dismissal, a collateral attack on a facially correct plea must include supporting affidavits of other persons." *Turner v. State*, 961 So.2d 734, 736(¶3) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Baker v. State*, 358 So.2d 401, 403 (Miss.1978)). The only support Nick provides for his contention that his plea was involuntary is his own affidavit which contains nothing more than a bare allegation with no supporting facts.

"[A] valid guilty plea operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional rights or defects which are incident to trial including the right to a speedy trial, whether of constitutional or statutory origin." *Madden v. State*, 991 So.2d 1231, 1237 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (quoting *Anderson v. State*, 577 So.2d 390, 391-92 (Miss.1991)). Nick has failed to prove that his plea was invalid and, therefore, he has waived his right to a speedy trial.

## II. Nick is not entitled to post-conviction collateral relief.

Nick argues that he is entitled to post conviction collateral relief because he alleges that "it was imposed upon information which was instituted by the prosecution long after the statutory time limitations for prosecution had elapsed and was used as a deliberate design to circumvent the statute of limitations on prosecution."

This argument fails for many reasons, but primarily because the charge of aggravated assault is exempted from the two year statute of limitations for criminal prosecutions. Further, the original charge of rape is also exempted from the two year statute of limitations. In 2000, on the date Nick violently attacked P.R., the statute of limitations for criminal acts in Section 99-1-5 (Rev.2000) provided:

A person shall not be prosecuted for any offense, with the exception of murder, manslaughter, aggravated assault, kidnaping, arson, burglary, forgery, counterfeiting, robbery, larceny, rape, embezzlement, obtaining money or property under false pretenses or by fraud, felonious abuse or battery of a child as described in Section 97-5-39, touching or handling a child for lustful purposes as described in Section 97-5-23, sexual battery of a child as described in Section 97-3-95(c) or exploitation of children as described in Section 97-5-33, unless the prosecution for such offense be commenced within two (2) years next after the commission thereof, but nothing contained in this section shall bar any prosecution against any person who shall abscond or flee from justice, or shall absent himself from this state or out of the jurisdiction of the court, or so conduct himself that he cannot be found by the officers of the law, or that process cannot be served upon him.

Further hindering Nick's efforts at relief, Mississippi courts have long held that "[a] valid guilty plea admits all elements of a formal charge and operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional defects, including the statute of limitations in a criminal case. *Laster v. State*, 975 So.2d 240, 242 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citations omitted); *Edmondson v. State*, 17 So.3d 591

(Miss. Ct. App. 2009). A statute of limitations claim is an affirmative defense, which may be waived upon the entry of a valid guilty plea. *Id.* The Waiver of Indictment signed by Nick under oath and the record of the plea hearing clearly establish that Nick's plea was valid and therefore waives Nick's right to assert any defenses based on the statute of limitations.

In addition to the waiver of any challenge based on the statute of limitations effected by Nick's guilty plea, the two year statute of limitations on criminal prosecutions was tolled as to charge of sexual battery upon the filing of the indictment only 13 months after the crime was committed. The brutal attack on P.R. was committed on November 3, 2000, and the indictment was filed on December 13, 2001, only 13 months later, tolling the two year statute of limitations.

Finally, it is clear from the record that Nick was offered a beneficial plea agreement which he wisely took. Nick faced potential sentences of life imprisonment for forcible rape and thirty (30) years imprisonment for sexual battery, which could have resulted in a sentence of *life* plus (30) thirty years. His plea bargain to the single charge of aggravated assault limited his maximum sentence to twenty years. This was a sweetheart deal for Nick and was not an effort by the prosecution to circumvent the statute of limitations.

This issue is without merit and the trial court's denial of Nick's Motion for Post Conviction Collateral should be affirmed.

# III. The trial court was correct in denying Nick's Motion for Post Conviction Collateral Relief.

Nick's Motion for Post Conviction Collateral Relief was without merit on its face. Nick claimed ineffective assistance of counsel did not attach any affidavit but his own to support that claim. In cases involving post-conviction collateral relief, "where a party offers only his affidavit, then his ineffective assistance of counsel claim is without merit." *Vielee v. State*, 653 So.2d 920,

922 (Miss.1995). Further, Nick waived his right to a speedy trial and any defenses he might have had under the statute of limitations.

Further, "[t]o survive summary dismissal, a collateral attack on a facially correct plea must include supporting affidavits of other persons." *Turner v. State*, 961 So.2d 734, 736(¶ 3) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Baker v. State*, 358 So.2d 401, 403 (Miss.1978)). The only support Nick provides for his contention that his plea was involuntary is his own affidavit which contains nothing more than a bare allegation with no supporting facts. The trial court had before it, among other things, Nick's sworn Petition to a Plea of Guilty in which Nick acknowledged that he was waiving all of the constitutional rights, including the right to a speedy and public trial by jury, listed therein. (C.P. 5-6) It was not error to rely on this sworn declaration to determine that Nick's plea was valid.

Additionally, at the plea hearing in which Nick pled guilty to aggravated assault, Nick gave his sworn statement that he was satisfied with the advice and counsel he received from his lawyer and that he had no complaints against his lawyer; his sworn statement that he understood the rights he was waiving by pleading guilty; his sworn admission that he did in fact violently assault the victim; and, his sworn statement.

With nothing but his own bare affidavit to support his factual claims, Nick did not meet the standard for an evidentiary hearing. His Motion for Post Conviction Collateral Relief was without merit on its face and was properly dismissed by the trial court.

# IV. Nick cannot satisfy either prong of *Strickland* and received constitutionally effective assistance of counsel.

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that: (1) his counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) this deficiency prejudiced his defense. *Strickland v*.

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). The burden of proof rests with the defendant to prove both prongs. *McQuarter v. State*, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990). Under Strickland, there is a strong presumption that counsel's performance falls within the range of reasonable professional assistance. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052. To overcome this presumption, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for the counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

As stated earlier, "[a] valid guilty plea operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional rights or defects which are incident to trial including the right to a speedy trial, whether of constitutional or statutory origin." *Madden v. State*, 991 So.2d 1231, 1237 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (quoting *Anderson v. State*, 577 So.2d 390, 391-92 (Miss.1991)). Nick has failed to prove his counsel was deficient for not pursuing a speedy trial because, upon entering a guilty plea, Nick waived his right to a speedy trial.

"In order to prevail on the issue of whether his defense counsel's performance was ineffective, [the petitioner] must prove that his counsel's performance was deficient and that he was prejudiced by counsel's mistakes." *Kinney v. State*, 737 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-96, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). Nick's counsel at the trial level is presumed to be constitutionally effective. Through the efforts of his counsel, Nick received the benefit of a plea bargain that capped his potential sentence at 20 years. The two counts for which he was originally indicted, forcible rape and sexual battery, were remanded to the file. These two charges have significantly greater penalties than aggravated assault. The maximum sentence for forcible rape is life imprisonment and the maximum sentence for sexual battery is 30 years. Nick clearly benefitted from his plea bargain

and therefore he cannot overcome the presumption that his counsel was constitutionally effective.

V. There is no statute of limitations for the prosecution of rape, sexual battery or aggravated assault and Nick's conviction for aggravated assault was correctly upheld by the trial court.

On November 3, 2000, Nick hid in the apartment of P.R. When she came home from work, he brutally attacked her, causing her severe injuries. On December 13, 2001, Nick was indicted for rape and sexual battery in the matter of the attack on P.R. In order to escape prosecution for rape and sexual battery, on September 13, 2005, Nick opted to accept a plea bargain in which he would enter an open plea of guilty to a charge of aggravated assault by information in exchange for the charges of rape and sexual battery being remanded to the file. The charge of aggravated assault had a much lesser maximum penalty than the charges of rape and sexual battery. Therefore, Nick waived any defense based on the statute of limitations as to all three charges. Further, aggravated assault and rape are exempted from the two year statute of limitations for prosecution of criminal offenses. Additionally, as to the charge of sexual battery, the statute of limitations was tolled on the day Nick was indicted, December 13, 2001, 13 months after he committed the offense on November 3, 2000.

A valid guilty plea admits all elements of a formal charge and operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional defects, including the statute of limitations in a criminal case. *Edmondson v. State*, 17 So.3d 591 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). Nick argues that he should not have been prosecuted because the statute of limitations had run as to the charges against him. However, the entry of Nick's guilty plea waived this defense. "A valid guilty plea admits all elements of a formal charge and operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional defects[,]" including the statute of limitations in a criminal case. *Laster v. State*, 975 So.2d 240, 242 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citations omitted). A

statute of limitations claim is an affirmative defense, which may be waived upon the entry of a valid guilty plea. *Id*.

In 2000, on the date of the violent attack of P.R., the statute of limitations for criminal acts in Section 99-1-5 (Rev.2000) provided:

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